TRUST AGREEMENT

Peguis First Nation Trust



Peguis First Nation

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	DEFINITIONS	3
2.	REFERENCES TO ACTS PERFORMED BY THE TRUSTEES	5
3.	HEADINGS	
4.	CONSTRUCTION OF TERMS	16
5.	ACCRUAL METHOD OF CALCULATION	16
6.	HEAD OFFICE OF THE TRUST	16
7.	CREATION OF THE TRUST	
7 7 7	7.1 Name of Trust	17 17 17
8.		18
8	General Application of the Trust Property	23 33
9.		
,	9.1 Number of Community Fund Trustees	35 36 36 37 39 40 40
	9.11 Consent and Acknowledgement Required	

10.1	Liability		
10.2	Indemnity	44	
10.3	Bonding	44	
10.4	Duty of Enquiry	45	
10.5	Trustees' Own Acts	45	
11. MA	NAGEMENT OF THE TRUST	45	
11.1	Record of Decisions	45	
11.2	Annual Audit by Financial Trustees	45	
11.3 11.4	Annual Activity Report by Community Fund Trustees Meeting with Council	48	
11.5	Rules and Regulations	40	
11.6	Execution of Documents	10	
11.7	Decisions of Trustees	49	
40 BAE			
12. IVIE	ETINGS	50	
12.1	Trustees' Meetings		
12.2	General Meetings of Members	50	
13. TRI	JSTEES' STATEMENT OF INTEREST	51	
14. CO	MPENSATION AND REIMBURSEMENT OF TRUSTEE	57	
14.1	Trustees' Compensation	57	
14.2	Reimbursement of Expenses	58	
14.3	Professional Advisors as Trustee	58	
15 PO	WERS AND AUTHORITY OF THE TRUSTEES		
	TERO ARD ACTIONITY OF THE TROSTEES	39	
15.1	General	50	
40 TEE			
IO. IEF	RMINATION	63	
16.1	Duration	00	
16.2	Reversion of Trust Property	03	
16.3	Termination Report	03	
16.4	Discharge of Trustees	64	
47 688			
17. AM	ENDMENT TO THE TERMS OF THE TRUST	64	
17.1	Legal Requirement		
17.1	Administrative Requirements	64	
17.3	General Requirements	05	
18. NOTICE			
19 499	SIGNMENT OF RENEFICIARY'S INTEREST		

20.	GOVERNING LAW	
21.	ADJUSTMENTS FOR INFLATION	67
	ETT195	

THIS TRUST AGR	EEMENT is made this day of	, 200_
BETWEEN:		
	PEGUIS FIRST NATION	
	as represented by its Chief and Council (referred to as "Peguis")	
	- and -	
		1 = 1
		orbei a
	(referred to as the "Financial Trustees")	
	and	
	searman isconnal and he been a common and	
		35 Layer
		-10-11
	(referred to as the "Community Fund Trustee	es")

WHEREAS:

- A. Peguis has entered into a Treaty Entitlement Agreement (as defined in this Agreement) with Her Majesty the Queen in right of Canada (referred to as "Canada") and with Her Majesty the Queen in right of Manitoba (referred to as "Manitoba") securing its long outstanding right to additional land for Reserve under the terms of Treaty 1;
- B. Under the Treaty Entitlement Agreement, Peguis is entitled to select and acquire up to 166,794 acres of additional land as Reserve for Peguis and Canada has agreed to pay to Peguis the sum of sixty-four million four hundred and twenty-five

thousand (\$64,425,000.00) dollars (referred to as the "Total Amount") inclusive of contributions made by Canada toward Negotiation Costs, costs incurred by Peguis in undertaking and completing the Community Approval Process and costs incurred, or anticipated to be incurred by Peguis in completing the Land Selection Study, as these terms are defined in the Treaty Entitlement Agreement;

- C. Under the Treaty Entitlement Agreement, Peguis has agreed to create a trust to be known as the Peguis First Nation Trust (referred to as the "Trust") to use, manage and administer those portions of the Total Amount allocated to the Federal Payment, the Land Acquisition Payment, the Third Party Interest Payment and the Implementation Payment, as these terms are defined in the Treaty Entitlement Agreement, received from Canada in a manner consistent with the Treaty Entitlement Agreement, and to administer other assets which may be contributed to this Trust from time to time, all for the benefit of Peguis, in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement;
- D. The Initial Trustees have agreed that the Financial Trustees shall have custody of and legal title to the Trust Property, shall deposit, once the Trust has received the moneys from Canada pursuant to the Treaty Entitlement Agreement, the sum of five million (\$5,000,000.00) dollars into the Community Fund Account and, subject to any adjustments provided in Article 15 of the Treaty Entitlement Agreement, the sum of fifty-six million, three hundred and ninety-seven thousand two hundred and fifteen (\$56,397,215.00) dollars into the Implementation Account, and shall administer the Trust Property in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement;
- E. The Initial Trustees have agreed that the Council shall determine and direct the application of the funds deposited in the Implementation Account for the purchase of land and other implementation administration of the Treaty Entitlement Agreement by providing the Financial Trustees with a Funding Direction in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement;

- F. The Initial Trustees have agreed that the Community Fund Trustees shall determine and direct the application of the funds deposited in the Community Fund Account by providing the Financial Trustees with a Funding Direction in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement; and
- G. The Financial Trustees have agreed to hold the moneys received and other assets referred to above and other property contributed to the Trust, if any, on the terms set out in this Agreement for the benefit of Peguis.

THEREFORE Peguis, in its capacity as settlor (referred to as the "Settlor") of the Trust, hereby transfers the sum of one hundred (\$100.00) dollars to the Initial Trustees. The transferred sum and any other Trust Property shall be held in trust and administered in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. Peguis and the Trustees agree with each other as follows:

1. DEFINITIONS

In this Agreement, including the recitals, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms have the following meanings:

- 1.1 "Annual Budget" means the annual budget prepared by the Council for the administrative expenses relating to the implementation of the Treaty Entitlement Agreement in accordance with the provisions of Section 8.4;
- 1.2 "Authorized Uses" means the application of Trust Property for Implementation Purposes and Community Purposes in accordance with the general principles and specific guidelines contained in Sections 8.1 and 8.2;
- 1.3 "Beneficiary" means Peguis, also known as the "Peguis Band", a "band" within the meaning of the Indian Act;
- 1.4 "Chief" means the chief of Peguis from time to time;

1.5	"Community Fund Account" means the account created for Community
	Purposes into which the Trustees shall deposit the sum of five million
	$(\$5,\!000,\!000.00)$ dollars from the amounts paid to Peguis by Canada in
	accordance with the Treaty Entitlement Agreement;
1.6	"Community Fund Trustees" initially means the members of Council,
	being,, and
	, and thereafter any individual elected or appointed to fill a
	vacancy in the office of the Community Fund Trustees in accordance with
	the provisions of Article 9 and "Community Fund Trustee" means any one
	of the Community Fund Trustees;
1.7	"Community Purposes" means those objects and purposes more
	particularly described in Paragraph 8.2(b);
1.8	"Council" means that body comprised of the Chief and the Councillors of
	Peguis, from time to time;
1.9	"Council Resolution" means a resolution passed by a majority decision
	of the Council at a duly convened meeting of the Council;
1.10	"Councillors" means the elected members of the Council and
	"Councillor" shall mean any one of the Councillors;
1.11	"Corporate Trustee" means a trust company organized and doing
	business under the laws of Canada or any province of Canada, authorized
	to exercise corporate trust powers, having a combined capital and surplus
	of at least \$10,000,000.00 and subject to supervision or examination by
	federal or provincial authority;
1.12	"Eligible Investments" means:

debt instruments issued or guaranteed by the Government of Canada, a Province of Canada, or a municipality of Canada, or

(a)

mutual or pooled funds, all such instruments to have a rating of not less than A by the Dominion Bond Rating Service;

- (b) debt instruments issued or guaranteed by a chartered bank (being those listed on Schedule 1 of the Bank Act 1991, R.S.C., c. 46 as amended) including bankers' acceptances and mutual or pooled funds, all such instruments to have a rating of not less than A by the Dominion Bond Rating Service;
- (c) mortgage-backed securities guaranteed by the Government of Canada, an agency of the government of Canada, a Province of Canada, or a chartered bank, including mutual or pooled funds;
- (d) commercial paper issued by corporations rated A or better by the Dominion Bond Rating Service or Canadian Bond Rating Services including mutual or pooled funds;
- (e) corporate Bonds rated A or better by the Dominion Bond Rating Service or Canadian Bond Rating Services including mutual or pooled funds;
- (f) convertible debentures rated BBB or better by the Dominion Bond Rating Service or Canadian Bond Rating Services up to ten (10%) percent of the market value of the equity position of the portfolio, or two and one-half (2.5%) percent of the market value of entire portfolio;
- (g) preferred shares and convertible preferred shares rated P2 or better by the Dominion Bond Rating Service or Canadian Bond Rating Services up to a maximum of two and one-half (2.5%) percent of the market value of the entire portfolio;
 - equity securities up to a maximum of thirty (30%) percent of the market value of the entire portfolio, including common shares,

instalment receipts, American Depository Receipts (referred to as "ADRs"), and share purchase warrants of a corporation listed on a recognized major global stock exchange. Equity securities may include mutual funds, income trusts, pooled funds or equities managed on a discretionary basis by a professional money manager. Equities may also include hedging strategies provided they are a fund of funds, market neutral or seek to provide through their investment process a risk reduction to the portfolio by applying hedging strategies; and

(i) other high yield debt instruments, provided such securities are managed by a professional financial manager and comprise no more than ten (10%) percent of the market value of the fixed income portion of the portfolio. High yield debt may also include hedging strategies provided they are a fund of funds, market neutral or seek to provide through their investment process a risk reduction to the portfolio by applying hedging strategies.

For further clarity, the market value of all equities referred to in Paragraph (h) including equity securities, income trusts, common shares, instalment receipts, common share purchase warrants, ADRs, including mutual or pooled funds acquired by the Financial Trustees should not, at any time, exceed thirty (30%) of the market value of all securities and cash which comprise the total portfolio of the Trust Property. In order to maintain the investment objectives of the Trust, the need for re-balancing the portfolio shall be reviewed every six (6) months (on or about each of June 15 and December 15) of each calendar year. If it is determined upon review that the market value of the securities as described in Paragraph (h), are thirty-five (35%) percent or greater of the market value of all securities and cash which comprise the total portfolio of the Trust Property, the portfolio shall be re-balanced to the objectives of the Trust with the result that the market value of securities as described in Paragraph (h) do not exceed thirty

(30%) percent of the market value of all securities and cash which comprise the total portfolio of the Trust Property.

Within the guidelines set out in this Section 1.12, the amount of Trust Property to be invested in each of the various authorized investments, the asset mix policy, and other conditions governing these investments, shall be set out in an investment policy established by the Financial Trustees.

- 1.13 "Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary" means applications of the Trust Property by the Financial Trustees:
 - to or for the benefit of the Beneficiary for Implementation Purposes as determined by Council; or
 - (b) to or for the benefit of the Beneficiary for Community Purposes as determined by:
 - the Community Fund Trustees, by Ordinary Resolution, for applications of amounts up to fifty thousand (\$50,000.00) dollars;
 - (ii) the Council, by Council Resolution, upon the recommendation of the Community Fund Trustees, for applications of amounts between fifty thousand (\$50,000.00) dollars and one hundred and fifty thousand (\$150,000.00) dollars; and
 - (iii) the Members, by Ordinary Resolution, upon the recommendation of the Community Fund Trustees and concurrence of the Council, for applications of amounts over one hundred and fifty thousand (\$150,000.00) dollars;

as the case many be, all in accordance with the general principles and specific guidelines contained in Sections 8.1 and 8.2.

1.14	"Financial Trustees" initially means the members of Council being,
	, and
	, and thereafter any individual elected or appointed to fill a
	vacancy in the office of the Financial Trustee in accordance with the
	provisions of Article 9, and "Financial Trustee" means any one of the
	Financial Trustees;

- 1.15 "Funding Direction" means a written direction from the Council, in respect of Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary for Implementation Purposes, or from the Community Fund Trustees, in respect of Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary for Community Purposes, delivered to the Financial Trustees, for a distribution of funds from the Trust Property, which contains the following information, as applicable:
 - (a) in respect of Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary for Implementation Purposes in relation to costs of implementation administration of the Treaty Entitlement Agreement:
 - a description of the Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary, in respect of which the proposed distribution will be applied;
 - (ii) a description of the manner in which the funds will be applied, including when and to whom funds will be paid, the anticipated completion date of any project to which the funds will be applied, the amount and source of other funds which will be applied in respect of the same matter, a description of any charges or security arrangements which may arise in respect of any project to which the funds may be applied; and
 - (iii) a Council Resolution approving any Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary for Implementation Purposes;

- (b) in respect of Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary for Implementation Purposes for the purchase or other acquisition of land or an interest in land:
 - a copy of an executed offer to purchase or other agreement to purchase or otherwise acquire land or an interest in land;
 - (ii) the name of the lawyer for the Beneficiary retained to complete the acquisition of land on behalf of the Beneficiary, to whom the Financial Trustees shall send the funds required to complete the purchase or other acquisition; and
 - (iii) a Council Resolution approving any Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary for Implementation Purposes; or
- (c) in respect of Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary for Community Purposes:
 - (i) a description of the Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary, in respect of which the proposed distribution will be applied;
 - (ii) a description of the manner in which the funds will be applied, including when and to whom funds will be paid, the anticipated completion date of any project to which the funds will be applied, the amount and source of other funds which will be applied in respect of the same matter, a description of any charges or security arrangements which may arise in respect of any project to which the funds may be applied;
 - (iii) an Ordinary Resolution by the Community Fund Trustees approving or recommending any Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary for Community Purposes;

- (iv) in the event the proposed expenditure is between fifty thousand (\$50,000.00) dollars and one hundred and fifty thousand (\$150,000.00) dollars, a Council Resolution approving any Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary recommended for Community Purposes by the Community Fund Trustees;
- (v) in the event the proposed expenditure exceeds one hundred and fifty thousand (\$150,000.00) dollars:
 - (A) a Council Resolution approving any Expenditures
 Beneficial to the Beneficiary for Community Purposes
 recommended by the Community Fund Trustees; and
 - (B) an Ordinary Resolution of the Members approving any Expenditure Beneficial to the Beneficiary for Community Purposes recommended by the Community Fund Trustees; and
 - (vi) in the event security arrangements must be implemented in connection with the proposed expenditure, the name of the lawyer to whom funds will be paid in connection with the completion of those security arrangements;
- 1.16 "Implementation Account" means the account created for Implementation Purposes into which the Trustees will deposit, subject to any adjustments provided in Article 15 of the Treaty Entitlement Agreement, the sum of fifty-six million, three hundred and ninety seven thousand two hundred and fifteen (\$56,397,215.00) dollars, which sum shall include the final amount allocated to the Land Acquisition Payment, as this term is defined in the Treaty Entitlement Agreement, from the amounts paid to Peguis by Canada in accordance with the Treaty Entitlement Agreement;

- 1.17 "Implementation Purposes" means those objects and purposes more particularly described in Paragraph 8.2(a);
- 1.18 "Income" means for each Taxation Year of the Trust the income or loss of the Trust for such year computed in accordance with the provisions of the Income Tax Act (other than subsections 75(2) and 104(6) of the Income Tax Act) regarding the calculation of income for the purposes of determining the "taxable income" of the Trust and shall, for greater certainty, include taxable capital gains, net of allowable capital losses, and any notional or deemed amounts required to be included in computing the taxable income of the Trust, but shall exclude capital dividends and the non-taxable portion of capital gains;
 - 1.19 "Income Tax Act" means the *Income Tax Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c.1 (5th Supplement) and its regulations, both as amended from time to time and any legislation enacted in substitution for the *Income Tax Act* and its regulations;
 - 1.20 "Indian Act" means the *Indian Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c. I-5 and its regulations, both as amended from time to time and any legislation enacted or substitution for the *Indian Act* and its regulations;
 - 1.21 "Initial Trustees" means the Financial Trustees and Community Fund Trustees first named at the beginning of this Agreement, and "Initial Trustee" means any one of the Initial Trustees;
 - 1.22 "Member" means an individual whose name appears on the "band list", as defined in the Indian Act, of the Beneficiary, whether or not the individual is ordinarily resident on any Reserve and "Members" means more than one Member;
- 1.23 "Ordinary Resolution" means:

- (a) in respect of Community Fund Trustees, a resolution passed by at least three (3) Community Fund Trustees who voted in respect of that resolution at a duly convened meeting of Community Fund Trustees or a written resolution signed by all the Community Fund Trustees entitled to vote on the resolution;
- (b) in respect of Financial Trustees, a resolution passed by at least four
 (4) Financial Trustees who voted in respect of that resolution at a duly convened meeting of Financial Trustees or a written resolution signed by all the Financial Trustees entitled to vote on the resolution;
 - (c) in respect of Members, a resolution passed by a majority of the votes cast by the Members who voted in respect of that resolution at a duly convened meeting of Members held upon thirty (30) days' written notice of the meeting specifying, among other things, the place, date and time of the meeting and any matter referred to in this Trust Agreement that is to be dealt with at the general meeting, posted in the administrative offices of Peguis and published in at least one issue of a newspaper having a general circulation in Winnipeg and Selkirk, Manitoba; and
 - (d) in respect of the Trustee Nominating Committee, a resolution passed by at least four (4) members of the Trustee Nominating Committee who voted in respect of that resolution at a meeting of the Trustee Nominating Committee held upon fifteen (15) days' written notice of the meeting specifying the place, date and time of the meeting, unless all members of the Trustee Nominating Committee agree to such shorter notice in writing of the meeting or waive such notice in writing of the meeting or a written resolution signed by all the members of the Trustee Nominating Committee entitled to vote on the resolution;

- 1.24 "Person" means and includes any individual, corporation (including a Crown Corporation), partnership, firm, joint venture, association, organization, foundation, trust, government or governmental authority of any jurisdiction whatsoever (whether federal, provincial, municipal or foreign) or First Nation (other than Peguis) and their respective heirs, successors, legal representatives and permitted assigns;
- "Primary Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust" means such part of the Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust which arises from property received by the Trust from Peguis, including the one hundred (\$100.00) dollars received to initially settle the Trust and funds paid by Canada at the direction of Peguis to the Financial Trustees pursuant to the Treaty Entitlement Agreement, or from any property substituted for that property, which is attributed to the Beneficiary by the application of Subsection 75(2) of the Income Tax Act or any other provision of the Income Tax Act such that the Income so attributed is deemed to be income of the Beneficiary and not income of the Trust for purposes of the Income Tax Act (Canada);
- 1.26 "Reserve" shall mean the Peguis Indian Reserve #1B, any land added to that Reserve from time to time, and any other land that may be set apart as "reserve" as defined in the Indian Act for Peguis from time to time;
- 1.27 "Secondary Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust" means Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust other than Primary Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust;
- 1.28 "Taxation Year of the Trust" means a calendar year, unless the fiscal period in respect of which the Trust is required annually to compute its income for Canadian federal income tax purposes changes, in which event the new fiscal period shall become the Taxation Year of the Trust;

- 1.29 "Treaty Entitlement Agreement" means that certain agreement to be entered into and made among Peguis, Canada and Manitoba and executed on the same date as this Agreement, pursuant to which, among other things, Peguis will be entitled to select and acquire up to 166,794 acres of additional land as Reserve and Canada will be required to pay the sum of sixty-four million four hundred and twenty-five thousand (\$64,425,000.00) dollars to Peguis;
- 1.30 "Trust Property" means all monies at any time on deposit in the Trust and, without limitation, includes:
 - (a) the Federal Payment, the Land Acquisition Payment, the Third Party Interest Payment and the Implementation Payment, as these terms are defined in the Treaty Entitlement Agreement, paid by Canada to the Initial Trustees in accordance with the Treaty Entitlement Agreement;
 - (b) all Eligible Investments in which those monies may from time to time be invested by the Trustees, or into which those monies may be converted by the Trustees at any time or from time to time, as well as any additions or accretions in respect of Eligible Investments;
 - (c) any sums repaid to the Trustees in accordance with the Trust Agreement; and
 - (d) any sums received by the Trust from Canada in accordance with section 8.06 of the Treaty Entitlement Agreement;

and all other monies, securities, property and assets which Peguis or Canada at the direction of Peguis or any other Person may pay, donate, sell, lend or otherwise transfer, cause to be transferred to, vest or cause to be vested in the Trustees for the use and benefit of the Beneficiary, and includes any substituted or additional property held in trust, together with all accretions to any property held in trust and all income derived from any property held in trust, less any amounts which have been paid or disbursed from any property held in trust (whether out of capital or income) in the normal course of the administration of the Trust or pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement;

- 1.31 "Trustee Nominating Committee" means the committee appointed by Council under Section 9.5; and
- 1.32 "Trustees" means the Financial Trustees and the Community Fund Trustees from time to time acting under this Agreement and shall include the Initial Trustees and any Financial Trustee or Community Fund Trustee elected or appointed pursuant to the applicable provisions of Article 9, and "Trustee" means any one of the Trustees.

2. REFERENCES TO ACTS PERFORMED BY THE TRUSTEES

For greater certainty, references to this "Agreement" shall be references to this Agreement and references to Article(s), Section(s), Paragraph(s), Subparagraph(s), Clause(s) and Subclause(s) shall be references to article(s), section(s), paragraph(s), subparagraph(s), clause(s) and subclause(s) of this Agreement unless as expressly stated otherwise. Where any reference is made in this Agreement to an act to be performed by the Trust, the reference shall be construed and applied for all purposes as if it referred to an act to be performed by the Financial Trustees or the Community Fund Trustees, as the context of this Agreement requires, on behalf of the Trust or by some other Person duly authorized to do so by the Financial Trustees or the Community Fund Trustees, as the case may be, pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement.

3. HEADINGS

The division of this Agreement into articles, paragraphs, subparagraphs and clauses and the provision of headings are for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the construction or interpretation of this Agreement.

4. CONSTRUCTION OF TERMS

In this Agreement, words referring to one Person shall, if the reference requires it, include a reference to more than one Person and vice versa. Reference to men or to women shall include references to the other and shall include references to Persons with no gender, as the circumstances may require. Reference to Persons with no gender shall include references to men and to women, as the circumstances may require.

5. ACCRUAL METHOD OF CALCULATION

Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, all amounts to be calculated pursuant to this Agreement shall be calculated on an accrual basis in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied.

6. HEAD OFFICE OF THE TRUST

The head office of the Trust created by this Agreement shall be located at Peguis Indian Reserve #1B in Manitoba or at any other place in Canada on any Reserve, as the Financial Trustees may from time to time designate.

7. CREATION OF THE TRUST

7.1 Name of Trust

The trusts created pursuant to the terms of this Agreement shall be known as the Peguis First Nation Trust.

7.2 Settlement of Trust and Acknowledgement

Peguis, in its capacity as Settlor of the Trust, confirms that it has, at the time of the signing of this Agreement, paid the sum of one hundred (\$100.00) dollars to the Initial Trustees and the Initial Trustees confirm receipt of that sum, for the purpose of creating and settling the Trust. The

Initial Trustees acknowledge that they shall hold the Trust Property in trust for the use and benefit of Peguis upon the trusts and subject to the terms and conditions in this Agreement.

7.3 Nature of the Trust

The Trust is a trust established for the benefit of the Beneficiary. The Trust is not and is not intended to be, shall not be deemed to be and shall not be treated as a trust for "purposes", a general partnership, limited partnership, syndicate, association, joint venture, company, corporation or joint stock company, nor shall the Trustees, the Beneficiary, the Members or any of them or any Person be, or be deemed to be, treated in any way whatsoever liable or responsible under this Agreement as partners, joint venturers or directors. The Trustees are not agents of the Beneficiary or the Members, and shall not have any power to bind the Beneficiary or the Members (but without in any manner limiting the ability of the Trustees to charge, encumber, assign or otherwise deal with the Trust Property in whole or in part).

7.4 Entitlements of Members and of the Beneficiary

- (a) All legal right, title and interest in the Trust Property is vested exclusively in the Financial Trustees.
- (b) The right to conduct the business of the Trust (subject to the limitations contained in this Agreement) is the responsibility of the Financial Trustees and the Community Fund Trustees, as the context of this Agreement requires.
- (c) All beneficial right, title, interest, and benefit in the Trust Property is vested exclusively in the Beneficiary and the Beneficiary shall be the sole entity entitled to enforce the obligations assumed by the Trustees under this Agreement.

7.5 Responsibility of Trustees

(a) The Financial Trustees

The financial administration of the Trust Property shall be the sole responsibility of the Financial Trustees. The Financial Trustees shall engage professional financial management services to assist them in performing their duties under this Agreement. The Financial Trustees shall apply or distribute the Trust Property in accordance with Funding Directions issued by the Council or the Community Fund Trustees, as the case may be.

(b) The Community Fund Trustees

The Community Fund Trustees shall have no responsibility under this Agreement for the financial administration of the Trust Property. The Community Fund Trustees shall identify and determine or recommend to Council or to Council and the Members, in accordance with Paragraphs 1.12(a), (b) and (c), as the case may be, Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary for Community Purposes, in accordance with the general principles and specific guidelines contained in Article 8 and provide the Financial Trustees with Funding Directions.

USE OF TRUST PROPERTY

8.1 General Application of the Trust Property

The Financial Trustees have agreed to hold and administer the Trust Property, and the Financial Trustees and the Community Fund Trustees, as the context so requires, have agreed to apply and distribute the Trust Property, on the terms set out in this Agreement for the benefit of Peguis and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, to assist Peguis in the implementation of the Treaty Entitlement Agreement by:

- (a) acquiring land to be registered in the name of Peguis or any agent, trustee or legal representative of the Beneficiary;
- (b) discharging expenses associated with the purchase of land and other implementation administration of the Treaty Entitlement Agreement; and
- (c) the advancement of the interests of and quality of life of Peguis and its Members through the preservation, enhancement and application of the Trust Property.

8.2 Specific Guidelines for Application of Trust Property

Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary will facilitate and support the successful implementation of the Treaty Entitlement Agreement, enhance and supplement funding and programs provided by Canada, Manitoba or Peguis wherever possible and also preserve, protect and advance the Treaty and aboriginal rights of Peguis and its Members so as to provide benefits from the Trust for all Members whether resident on or off Reserve. Without limitation of the foregoing, Trust Property applied or distributed to the Beneficiary, or to any other Person, by the Financial Trustees shall only be used for the following Authorized Uses:

- (a) for Implementation Purposes, by the payment or application of funds out of the Implementation Account to:
 - (i) permit the Beneficiary to select and acquire land for social, economic development, cultural or other purposes of interest to Peguis, including related costs;
 - (ii) pay the costs of inspection, appraisal, negotiation, capital purchase, purchase transaction, holding, tax adjustment and incidental related costs, including agents, representatives or

trustees retained to purchase or hold title to land on behalf of Peguis;

- (iii) implement the Treaty Entitlement Agreement, including required staff, equipment, travel or other administration costs pertaining to the purchase of land, monitoring and Reserve creation process;
- (iv) pay the reasonable fees and honoraria (as approved in accordance with Section 14.1) and expenses of the Financial Trustees in connection with their administration of the Trust Property, including any form of financial, investment, management, legal or other education which will assist them in their duties as Financial Trustees; and
- (v) pay the reasonable costs and expenses of professional management, accounting, legal and other services necessarily required by the Financial Trustees in their administration of the Trust Property and protection of the Trust Property;
- (b) for Community Purposes, by the payment or application of funds out of the Community Fund Account to:
 - provide supplementary or enhanced health care related services or facilities for Members;
 - (ii) enhance and promote educational opportunities, including but not limited to providing funding for the Beneficiary to enable it to build, establish and operate schools or training facilities for Members, to provide scholarships and bursary funds for Members and to recognize achievements by Members in educational endeavours;

- (iii) provide support and assistance to address the special needs of Peguis elders, their cultural contributions to the community and Members and their role as keepers of knowledge;
- (iv) provide assistance to Peguis in its community development and improvements initiatives, including the construction and maintenance of roads, bridges, ditches, water-courses, fences, buildings or permanent improvements, works or infrastructure on any Reserve; the purchase of industrial or manufacturing equipment or machinery to be owned by the Beneficiary for community purposes; and the promotion, establishment or enhancement of recreational facilities owned by the Beneficiary;
- (v) promote the preservation, study and learning of the language and cultural heritage of the Beneficiary;
- (vi) encourage community activities, including the annual Treaty
 Days, pow-wow and community gatherings;
- (vii) acquire, establish, or build a credit union or a bank or a trust company to be owned by the Beneficiary;
- (viii) provide funding to assist the Beneficiary in the provision of housing to Members;
- (ix) promote or establish a business or commercial operation beneficial to the Beneficiary or its Members;
- (x) protect, preserve and advance the aboriginal and Treaty rights of Peguis and its Members; and
- (xi) pay the reasonable fees and honoraria (as approved in accordance with Section 14.1) and expenses of the

Community Fund Trustees in connection with their consideration, determination and approval of Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary for Community Purposes;

and also including any other activity, undertaking, project or initiative which the Community Fund Trustees may recommend or approve as consistent with the general guidelines for Community Purposes as provided in this Agreement, provided that, for greater certainty, the nature of a certain activity, undertaking, project or initiative considered an Expenditure Beneficial to the Beneficiary for Community Purposes may, as the circumstances dictate, provide for Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary of benefit to primarily or only Members ordinarily resident on Reserve or primarily or only Members ordinarily resident off Reserve from time to time;

- (c) notwithstanding Paragraphs 8.2(a) and (b), the Trustees shall not make a distribution of Trust Property to individual Members or any other Person for the purpose of a disbursement to an individual Member. Without limiting the foregoing, in the event the Beneficiary receives a distribution of Trust Property, no portion of that distribution shall be used, either directly or indirectly, for an individual distribution to any Member or to any other Person for that purposes;
- (d) Paragraph 8.2(c) does not apply to:
 - (i) the payment to any Person of a service fee, salary, or honorarium;
 - (ii) the reimbursement to any Person of any claim for reimbursement of expense that person has against the Trust; or

(iii) the payment to any Person of an amount for the purpose of carrying out or achieving an Authorized Use;

where the payment is made in accordance with this Agreement or, where this Agreement makes no express provision for the payment, in accordance with the administrative practices established by the Trustees; and

(e) no Trust Property shall be applied or distributed by the Trustees or, if received by the Beneficiary, used by the Beneficiary, directly or indirectly, to pay the debt or operational deficit of Peguis or to make any per capita distribution to the Members of Peguis.

8.3 Provisions Governing the Application of the Trust Property

(a) Application of the Trust Property

(i) Receipt of Funding Direction

The Council and the Community Fund Trustees may deliver a Funding Direction to the Financial Trustees, and upon receipt of a Funding Direction, the Financial Trustees shall pay or apply so much of the Trust Property as is specified in the Funding Direction, from the Implementation Account or the Community Fund Account, as the case may be, to or for the benefit of the Beneficiary in connection with Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary. Subject to the provisions of this Subparagraph permitting anticipatory distributions from the Trust Property, such payments shall be made firstly out of Secondary Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust, secondly, by repayment of Promissory Notes, and thirdly, out of Primary Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust or out of the capital of the Trust Property, as the Financial Trustees shall determine. Notwithstanding the

foregoing, the Financial Trustees may, prior to the end of a Taxation Year of the Trust, make anticipatory distributions from the Trust Property. The Annual Audit for that Taxation Year of the Trust, prepared in accordance with Section 11.2, shall reflect the proper allocation of any such anticipatory distributions among Secondary Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust, repayment of Promissory Notes, Primary Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust and the capital of the Trust Property. Except pursuant to a Funding Direction from the Council or the Community Fund Trustees in accordance with this Subparagraph 8.3(a)(i), the Financial Trustees shall not distribute Primary Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust to the Beneficiary.

(ii) Limitations

(A) Implementation Account:

as Reserve has been increased by 9,637 acres of land as a result of the implementation of the Treaty Entitlement Agreement, the amount of capital retained in the Implementation Account shall not be less than the amount determined by the following formula:

(A-B)

where

"A" is the amount of the Land Acquisition Payment as this term is defined in the Treaty Entitlement Agreement, being \$49,800,000.00 and "B" is the total of all amounts disbursed from the Trust for the purpose of permitting Peguis, or any Person acting for or on behalf of Peguis, to Acquire Other Land as this term is defined in the Treaty Entitlement Agreement.

- (2) No distribution of any portion of the Trust Property from the Implementation Account, other than distributions of Secondary Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust and payment on account of Promissory Notes, shall be made which would, if made, reduce the net realizable value of the Trust Property in the Implementation Account, other than land, less outstanding Promissory Notes and other liabilities of the Trust, below twenty five million (\$25,000,000.00) dollars at any time before the date that is twenty-five (25) years after the date of this Agreement.
- (B) Community Fund Account: No distribution of Trust Property, from the Community Fund Account other than distributions of Secondary Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust and payment on account of Promissory Notes, shall be made which would, if made, reduce the net realizable value of the Trust Property in the Community Fund Account, less outstanding Promissory Notes and other liabilities, below the aggregate of the following amounts:

- (1) two million five hundred thousand (\$2,500,000.00) dollars; and
- (2) fifty (50%) percent of the value of any transfers of the Trust Property from the Implementation Account to the Community Fund Account under Subparagraph 8.3(a)(iii) and any additions to the Trust Property in the Community Fund Account under Subparagraph 8.3(a)(v).
- (C) Any amount to be distributed by the Financial Trustees in accordance with Subparagraph 8.3(a)(i) shall be reduced by the total of all amounts paid in cash or kind to the Beneficiary in whole or partial payment of an amount owing under:
 - (1) in the case of an amount to be distributed pursuant to a Funding Direction for Implementation Purposes, any Promissory Note issued and delivered to the Beneficiary in payment of the obligation of the Financial Trustees to pay the Secondary Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust recorded in the Implementation Account that has not been paid to the Beneficiary in the Taxation Year of the Trust; or
 - (2) in the case of an amount to be distributed pursuant to a Funding Direction for Community Purposes, any Promissory Notes issued and delivered to the Beneficiary in payment of the obligation of the Financial Trustees to pay the

Secondary Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust recorded in the Community Fund Account that has not been paid to the Beneficiary in the Taxation Year of the Trust;

that has not previously reduced an amount to be distributed by the Financial Trustees under Paragraph 8.3(a)(i) in accordance with this Clause 8.3(a)(ii)(C).

(iii) Special Meeting of Members

- (A) The Council shall, not later than six (6) months after the date that is twenty-five (25) years following the date of the execution of this Agreement, and at all times thereafter as provided for in Clause 8.3(a)(iii)(B) below, upon thirty (30) days written notice posted in the administrative offices of Peguis and published in at least one issue of a newspaper having a general circulation in Winnipeg and Selkirk, Manitoba, call a special public meeting of Members for the purpose of making a decision, by Ordinary Resolution of the Members, on one of the following options:
 - to retain all of the Trust Property in the Implementation Account for at least the next five (5) years; or
 - (2) subject to Subclause 8.3(a)(ii)(A)(1), to retain a portion of the Trust Property in the Implementation Account and to transfer the remaining portion of the Trust Property in the Implementation Account to the Community Fund Account, in which case the Members

shall also decide, by Ordinary Resolution, what portion of the Trust Property in the Implementation Account shall be retained in the Implementation Account and what portion shall be transferred to the Community Fund Account; or

- (3) subject to Subclause 8.3(a)(ii)(A)(1), to transfer all of the Trust Property deposited in the Implementation Account to the Community Fund Account.
- (B) For so long as there remains Trust Property in the Implementation Account, the Council shall, upon thirty (30) days written notice posted in the administrative offices of Peguis and published in at least one issue of a newspaper having a general circulation in Winnipeg and Selkirk, Manitoba, call a special public meeting of Members five (5) years after the date of the special public meeting of Members provided for in Clause 8.3(a)(iii)(A), and every five (5) years after that, for the purpose of making a decision, by Ordinary Resolution of the Members, on one of the three (3) options listed above as (1), (2) and (3) in Clause 8.3(a)(iii)(A).

(iv) Additions to Capital

Any Income of the Trust Property earned in the Implementation Account which forms part of the basis for determining Primary Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust not distributed in the Taxation Year of the Trust in which it arises, or within one hundred and twenty (120) days of the

end of that year, shall be added to the capital of the Trust Property in the Implementation Account, and any income of the Trust Property earned in the Community Fund Account which forms part of the basis for determining Primary Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust not distributed in the Taxation Year of the Trust in which it arises, or within one hundred twenty (120) days of the end of that year, shall be added to the capital of the Trust Property in the Community Fund Account.

(v) Additions to Trust Property

Peguis or any other person at the direction of Peguis may add other monies, securities, property and assets to the Trust Property from any source as authorized and approved by Council by way of Council Resolution or by the Members by way of Ordinary Resolution. Any such addition to the Trust Property shall be governed by the terms of this Trust Agreement as though it was a part of the original net amount of monies received from Canada at the direction of Peguis pursuant to the terms of the Treaty Entitlement Agreement, provided that Council by an irrevocable Council Resolution, or the Members by an Ordinary Resolution, as the case may be, prior to the receipt of an addition to the Trust Property, shall designate the extent to which the whole or any part of the addition to the Trust Property shall be allocated to the Implementation Account and/or the Community Fund Account, as the case may be.

(vi) Application of the Trust Property by Initial Financial Trustees

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Initial Trustees shall not at any time during the period they hold office pay or apply any of the Trust Property to or for the benefit of the Beneficiary in accordance with a Funding Direction unless such Funding Direction relates only to Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary for Implementation Purposes under Paragraph 8.2(a).

(b) Income Payable to the Beneficiary

(i) <u>Secondary Income</u>

- (A) Determination of Secondary Income For Taxation
 Year of the Trust: The Financial Trustees shall
 calculate the Secondary Income for a Taxation Year
 of the Trust recorded in each of the Implementation
 Account and in the Community Fund Account.
- Payment of Secondary Income for a Taxation Year of (B) the Trust: All of the Secondary Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust recorded in each of the Implementation Account and in the Community Fund Account that has not been paid to the Beneficiary earlier in the Taxation Year of the Trust shall be payable to the Beneficiary on the last day of that Taxation Year. Within six (6) months from the end of the Taxation Year of the Trust in which the Secondary Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust is earned, the Financial Trustees shall deliver to the Beneficiary a promissory note substantially in the form as set out in the attached Schedule "A" (referred to as a "Promissory Note") payable to the Beneficiary for the unpaid Secondary Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust recorded in the Implementation Account and a Promissory Note payable to the Beneficiary for the

unpaid Secondary Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust recorded in the Community Fund Account. Each Promissory Note shall be issued as absolute payment by the Financial Trustees of the obligation to pay the unpaid Secondary Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust to the Beneficiary. For greater certainty, the Secondary Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust shall not be added to the capital of the Trust, but shall be paid to the Beneficiary in the manner provided in this Clause 8.3(b)(i)(B).

- (C) Certificate by Accountants: The accountants instructed to prepare the Annual Audit of the Trust in accordance with Subparagraph 11.2(a)(iii) of this Agreement shall certify that to the best of their knowledge all steps or things necessary have been completed to entitle the Trust to deduct an amount for a Taxation Year of the Trust equal to the Secondary Income for a Taxation Year of the Trust paid or payable to the Beneficiary in that year in accordance with the Income Tax Act and under this Agreement.
- (D) Promissory Notes: Each Promissory Note will be payable on demand, and will bear no interest. The Financial Trustees may, at any time in their own discretion or, at any time if so requested by the Beneficiary, issue one or more Promissory Notes (each referred to as a "Replacement Note") to the Beneficiary in replacement for any or all Promissory Notes issued prior to that time provided that:

- (1) the aggregate face value of each Replacement Note so issued shall be equal to the aggregate face value of the Promissory Notes so replaced;
- (2) the material terms of each Replacement Note shall be the same as those of the Promissory Notes so replaced; and
- (3) for all other purposes each Replacement Note shall be deemed to be a Promissory Note issued in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
- (E) Acknowledgement of Enforceability of Promissory

 Notes: At any time, on the request of the Beneficiary,
 and in any case at a time which is no more than five

 (5) years after the date which is the earliest of the
 time at which a particular Promissory Note (which has
 not been redeemed or replaced) was:
 - (1) issued by the Trust; or
 - (2) acknowledged by the Trust to be enforceable against the Trust Property in accordance with its terms;

the Financial Trustees shall acknowledge that each Promissory Note is enforceable against the Trust Property in accordance with the terms of that Promissory Note. The Financial Trustees acknowledge that each Promissory Note remains enforceable at law notwithstanding any lapse of time without any demand being made thereon and that the

obligation to discharge each Promissory Note is not subject to any statutory or common law limitation period. For greater certainty, the Financial Trustees waive any rights they may have with respect to any limitation period that may be imposed pursuant to *The Limitation of Actions Act*, C.C.S.M. 1987, c.L150, or any other successor legislation or law that may impose a time period within which an action must be taken to enforce any Promissory Note.

8.4 Annual Budget For Implementation Administration

- (a) For each Taxation Year of the Trust, the Council may prepare an Annual Budget for the administrative expenses relating to the implementation of the Treaty Entitlement Agreement, including required staff, equipment, travel or other administration costs pertaining to the acquisition of land, site inspections, land appraisals, general (non-purchase related) legal services (excluding land holding costs), monitoring and Reserve creation process approved by the Council for each Taxation Year of the Trust during the implementation of the Treaty Entitlement Agreement.
- (b) The Council shall submit the Annual Budget to the Financial Trustees, along with the Council Resolution approving the Annual Budget, and deliver a Funding Direction authorizing the Financial Trustees to distribute funds from the Trust Property deposited into the Implementation Account. Upon receipt of the Annual Budget and corresponding Funding Direction, the Financial Trustees shall make payments to Council on a quarterly basis based on the Annual Budget submitted by the Council, as amended by the Council at any time and from time to time.

- (c) An Annual Budget for a Taxation Year of the Trust, and any amended Annual Budget for a Taxation Year of the Trust, shall not exceed three hundred and fifty thousand (\$350,000.00) dollars (plus the estimated amount of land holding costs) in any Taxation Year of the Trust, unless the Members approve, by Ordinary Resolution, an Annual Budget for a Taxation Year of the Trust in excess of three hundred and fifty thousand (\$350,000.00) dollars in a given Taxation Year of the Trust.
- (d) Any funds paid to the Council pursuant to an Annual Budget for a Taxation Year of the Trust which are not expended in the year for expenses described in an Annual Budget for a Taxation Year of the Trust shall be either:
 - returned to the Financial Trustees and deposited in the Implementation Account; or
 - (ii) credited towards the Annual Budget for the following Taxation Year of the Trust.

9. GENERAL PROVISIONS FOR THE TRUSTEES

9.1 Number of Community Fund Trustees

There shall at all times be five (5) Community Fund Trustees elected to act under this Agreement. If, for any reason, there are less than five (5) Community Fund Trustees at any time, the vacancy shall be filled in accordance with Section 9.10 but the Community Fund Trustees shall continue to act in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, provided that if, for any reason, there are less than three (3) Community Fund Trustees at any time, the Community Fund Trustees shall be precluded from recommending or approving Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary until there are at least three (3) Community Fund Trustees in office.

9.2 Number of Financial Trustees

There shall at all times be seven (7) Financial Trustees, of which five (5) shall be elected and two (2) shall be appointed, to act under this Agreement. If, for any reason, there are less than seven (7) Financial Trustees at any time, the vacancy shall be filled in accordance with Section 9.10 but the Financial Trustees shall continue to act in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, provided that if, for any reason, there are less than four (4) Financial Trustees at any time, the Financial Trustees shall be precluded from making distributions of Trust Property to or for the benefit of the Beneficiary in respect of Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary until there are at least four (4) Community Fund Trustees in office, but shall continue to preserve and protect the Trust Property.

9.3 Basic Qualifications of Trustees

- (a) Except for a Corporate Trustee, each Trustee shall be an individual willing to assist in carrying out the objects of the Trust, shall be at least 18 years of age at the time of becoming a Trustee and shall not be otherwise disqualified from acting as a Trustee in accordance with Section 9.7 or by law.
- (b) At all times, at least five (5) Financial Trustees and at least four (4) Community Fund Trustees shall be Members, of which at least four (4) Financial Trustees and at least three (3) Community Fund Trustees shall ordinarily reside on Reserve during their terms of office and at least one (1) Financial Trustee and at least one (1) Community Fund Trustee shall ordinarily reside off Reserve during their terms of office.
- (c) At least one (1) Financial Trustee, to be appointed by Council, who need not be a Member, shall be a chartered accountant, and at least one (1) Financial Trustee, to be appointed by Council, who

need not be a Member, must be either a Corporate Trustee, lawyer, engineer, school principal or other person, who is a member of a professional body which regulates his or her employment or business activities.

(d) Except for the Initial Trustees, no Trustee may be a member of Council and no person may be both a Financial Trustee and a Community Fund Trustee at the same time.

9.4 Term of Initial Trustees

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Initial Trustees shall only hold office until replacement Trustees are elected at a general meeting of Members called in accordance with the provisions of Section 9.6 as soon as is reasonably possible after the date of the settlement of this Trust.

9.5 Application and Assessment of Qualifications

- (a) For the purpose of electing Trustees, the Council shall appoint a Trustee Nominating Committee comprised of seven (7) Members, including at least three (3) Members who reside off Reserve, to consider applications from Members to act either as a Community Fund Trustee or a Financial Trustee.
- (b) The Trustee Nominating Committee shall have authority to recommend suitable and reasonable eligibility criteria to apply in the consideration of applications for election to the position of Trustee by the committee, not contrary to this Agreement. The eligibility criteria shall be set out in writing, approved by Ordinary Resolution at any general meeting of Members, posted in the administrative offices of Peguis and provided to any Member upon written request.

9.6 Nomination and Election

- (a) The Trustee Nominating Committee shall, by consensus, and failing consensus, by Ordinary Resolution, nominate for election those applicants it considers most qualified to assume the duties and responsibilities in relation to the offices of Financial Trustee or Community Fund Trustee, as the case may be, from among the applications submitted to stand for election by the Members, providing summary reasons for nomination of each candidate nominated for election including the qualifications of each nominee.
- (b) In the event of one or more vacancies or contemplated vacancies in the office of Community Fund Trustees, the Trustee Nominating Committee shall provide the Council with a list setting out the names of not more than three (3) applicants nominated for election for each vacancy in the office of Community Fund Trustees and in the event of one or more vacancies or contemplated vacancies in the office of Financial Trustees, the Trustee Nominating Committee shall provide the Council with a list setting out the names of not more than three (3) applicants nominated for election for each vacancy in the office of Financial Trustees, together with summary reasons for nomination of each candidate nominated for election.
- (c) The Trustee Nominating Committee shall provide the Council with the list referred to in Paragraph 9.6(b):
 - in the case of contemplated vacancies arising from the replacement of the Initial Trustees, within six (6) months of the Members' approval of the eligibility criteria referred to in Paragraph 9.5(b); and

- (ii) in all other cases, within sixty (60) days of the Members' approval of the eligibility criteria referred to in Paragraph 9.5(b);
- (d) Within thirty (30) days after the receipt of the list or lists of nominations, the Council shall post such list or lists in the administrative offices of Peguis and provide notice of a general meeting of Members posted in the administrative offices of Peguis and published in at least one issue of a newspaper having a general circulation in Winnipeg and Selkirk, Manitoba, for the election of Community Fund Trustees or Financial Trustees, or both, as the case may be, including, where applicable, the election of up to three (3) alternate Financial Trustees and up to two (2) alternate Community Fund Trustees, to be held not less than twenty-one (21) days after the notice of the general meeting of Members has been published.
- (e) At the general meeting of Members, the Members shall cast their vote by ballot for the election of Community Fund Trustees or Financial Trustees, or both, as the case may be, and the nominee or nominees having the highest number of votes shall be elected Community Fund Trustees or Financial Trustees, as the case may be, and the nominee or nominees having the following highest number of votes shall be elected alternate Financial Trustees or alternate Community Fund Trustees (collectively the "Alternate Elected Trustees", and individually "Alternate Elected Trustee"), as the case may be. Each person elected as an Alternate Elected Trustee shall be eligible, for a period of two (2) years from the date such individual was elected as an Alternate Elected Trustee, to be appointed by Council to fill a vacancy in the office of Financial Trustee or Community Fund Trustee, as the case may be, in accordance with the provisions of Section 9.10.

(f) Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, there shall not at any time be more than three (3) Alternate Elected Trustees eligible to be appointed to the office of Financial Trustee and more than two (2) Alternate Elected Trustees eligible to be appointed to the office of Community Fund Trustee.

9.7 Ceasing to be a Trustee

The term and office of a Trustee shall be automatically terminated and vacated by the Trustee if the Trustee shall:

- (a) die;
- (b) have a trustee or guardian appointed on his behalf pursuant to *The Mental Health Act*, C.C.S.M. 1998, c.M110;
- (c) be declared bankrupt or be insolvent;
- (d) become the donor under a Power of Attorney which has come into or which remains in force because of the donor's lack of mental capacity;
- (e) be convicted of an indictable offence, fraud, or any offence involving the Trust Property or the exercise of his or her responsibilities as a Trustee;
- (f) in respect of meetings of the Trustees proper notice of which has been received by the Trustee in accordance with Section 12.01, fail to attend two (2) consecutive meetings in any Taxation Year of the Trust without an excuse acceptable to the other Financial Trustees or Community Fund Trustees, as the case may be, or in any event fail to attend three (3) meetings in any Taxation Year of the Trust;

- (g) fail to disclose a material conflict of interest, or vote on any resolution in which he or she has a material conflict of interest, pursuant to Article 13;
- (h) cease to be a resident of Canada for Canadian income tax purposes; or
- (i) be elected as a member of Council.

9.8 Resignation of Trustee

Any Trustee may resign by delivering thirty (30) days written notice to the Council and to the other Trustees then in office of his or her intention to resign. Any resignation shall be effective on the thirtieth (30th) day following delivery of notice, unless part or all of the required notice period is waived by the Council, in which case the resignation shall be effective on the date approved by Council Resolution.

9.9 Removal of Trustees

- (a) By Council at the Request of the Trustees: The Council may, by Council resolution, remove any individual or Corporate Trustee from the office of Community Fund Trustee or Financial Trustee, as the case may be, upon receipt of a resolution signed by all of the remaining Community Fund Trustees or Financial Trustees entitled to vote thereon, as the case may be, requesting such removal together with an explanation of the reasons for their request, provided that at least three (3) Community Fund Trustees or at least four (4) Financial Trustees, as the case may be, have signed such resolution.
- (b) By the Members at the Request of the Trustees: In the event that the Council has failed, neglected, refused or decided not to remove an individual or Corporate Trustee from the office of Community

Fund Trustee or Financial Trustee, as the case may be, upon request of the remaining Community Fund Trustees or Financial Trustees, as the case may be, provided in accordance with Paragraph 9(a), the Members may, by Ordinary Resolution, remove the individual or Corporate Trustee from the office of Community Fund Trustee or Financial Trustee, as the case may be, upon a motion brought for this purpose by the remaining Community Fund Trustees or Financial Trustees, as the case may be, at any general meeting of Members or at a special public meeting of Members called by the remaining Community Fund Trustees or Financial Trustees, as the case may be, upon thirty (30) days written notice posted in the administrative offices of Peguis.

- (c) By the Members in their Discretion: The Members may, by Ordinary Resolution passed at any general meeting of Members, remove any individual or Corporate Trustee from the office of Community Fund Trustee or Financial Trustee, as the case may be.
- (d) Effective Date of Termination: The removal of an individual or Corporate Trustee from the office of Community Fund Trustee or Financial Trustee made in accordance with any of Paragraphs 9.9(a), (b) or (c) shall be effective on the later of:
 - (i) the date the individual or Corporate Trustee receives the written notice, signed by the Chief or the person(s) designated in the applicable resolution to sign the notice, of his or its removal from the office of Trustee; and
 - (ii) the date of removal specified in the applicable resolution.

9.10 Appointment of Trustees to Fill Vacancy

If one or more of the events described in Sections 9.7, 9.8 and 9.9 occurs and there is a vacancy in the office of Trustee, the Council shall fill the vacancy by:

- (a) in the case of an appointed Financial Trustee, by appointment of a Financial Trustee by Council Resolution as soon as reasonably possible, but in any event within thirty (30) days of the date that the vacancy occurs;
- (b) in the case of an elected Trustee, by selection of a Financial Trustee or Community Fund Trustee, as the case may be, from among the Alternate Elected Trustees, as the case may be, by Council Resolution as soon as reasonably possible, but in any event within thirty (30) days of the date the vacancy occurred; and
- (c) in the event there are no remaining Alternate Elected Trustees eligible for appointment to the office of Financial Trustee and/or Community Fund Trustee, as the case may be, by appointing a Trustee Nominating Committee in accordance with Section 9.5 and by calling a general meeting of Members for the election of Trustees in accordance with Section 9.6.

9.11 Consent and Acknowledgement Required

It is a condition of becoming a Trustee after the execution of this Agreement, including a substitution or replacement of a Trustee, that a proposed Trustee shall, prior to taking office as a Trustee, execute a consent and acknowledgement, as set forth in Schedule "C" to this Agreement confirming his willingness to act as Trustee in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and to participate in any ongoing orientation or education process pertaining to his function as a Trustee.

10. LIABILITY AND INDEMNITY OF TRUSTEES

10.1 Liability

- (a) The Trustees shall not be liable or accountable for any loss or damage to the Trust Property, or any part of the Trust Property, resulting from the exercise of a discretion or authority conferred upon them by this Agreement or any other statute or law, as long as they are acting honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Beneficiary and as long as individual Trustees exercise the care, diligence and skill of an individual of ordinary prudence in managing his own affairs and Corporate Trustees exercise the care, diligence and skill of a prudent trustee.
- (b) No Trustee shall be liable or accountable for the acts, omissions, receipts, neglects or defaults of any other Trustee or Person, firm, corporation, or company employed or engaged by the Trust and no Trustee, other than a Corporate Trustee, shall be liable only because that Trustee joined with the other Trustees in arriving at a decision or in taking action which is found to be in breach of the terms of this Trust.
- (c) A Trustee shall be presumed to be acting honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Beneficiary and to be exercising the care, diligence and skill of an individual of ordinary prudence in managing his own affairs, in the case of an individual Trustee and the care, diligence and skill of a prudent trustee, in the case of a Corporate Trustee, unless it can be rebutted by evidence to the contrary.
- (d) For greater certainty, the Financial Trustees shall have no obligation or duty to inquire into the suitability of any land which the Beneficiary proposes to acquire and shall have no obligation or

duty to determine if the amount to be paid for the land or related transaction closing costs are reasonable.

10.2 Indemnity

The Trustees, and each of them, shall be indemnified from the Trust Property and held harmless from and against all claims whatsoever, including without limitation, costs, charges and expenses in connection with any claims, whatsoever which are brought, commenced or prosecuted against them or any one of them for or in respect of any act, deed, matter or thing whatsoever made, done, permitted by them to be done, or not done in or about the performance of the duties of their office, and also from and against all other costs, charges and expenses, including, for greater certainty, any death duties, taxes and other charges arising in connection with the Trust Property or any part of the Trust Property, except that no Trustee shall be indemnified in respect of any claim or loss not arising from a Trustee acting honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Beneficiary and exercising the care. diligence and skill of an individual of ordinary prudence in managing his own affairs, in the case of an individual Trustees, and the care, diligence and skill of a prudent trustee, in the case of a Corporate Trustee.

10.3 Bonding

Unless the Members by resolution so require, the Trustees shall not be required to give any bond or security in connection with the administration of the Trust Property and the performance of the trusts created by this Agreement in any country, state, province, territory or other jurisdiction, despite the laws of that country, state, province, territory or other jurisdiction.

10.4 Duty of Enquiry

No Trustee who replaces another Trustee shall be required or be under any duty to examine, question or verify, or audit the books, records or accounts of any former Trustee.

10.5 Trustees' Own Acts

Subject to the disclosure requirements of Article 13, it shall not be considered a breach of a Trustee's responsibility if that Trustee carries on a business which competes with any business that the Trust carries on or invests in. It shall not be considered a breach of a Trustee's responsibility if that Trustee, directly or indirectly, owns, acquires or disposes of shares or securities in any corporation in which the Trust also owns shares or securities.

11. MANAGEMENT OF THE TRUST

11.1 Record of Decisions

The Financial Trustees and the Community Fund Trustees shall each maintain a written record of all of their respective decisions and make these records available to the Council and to Members upon written request.

11.2 Annual Audit by Financial Trustees

- (a) The Financial Trustees shall:
 - maintain adequate records of all transactions affecting the Trust Property;
 - (ii) prepare, for each Taxation Year of the Trust, financial statements in accordance with the "Generally Accepted

Accounting Principles" established from time to time by the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board;

- (iii) within ninety (90) days of the end of each Taxation Year of the Trust, have a chartered accountant or firm of chartered accountants licensed to practice in the Province of Manitoba, independent of the Council and the Trustees, audit the financial statements (referred to as the "Annual Audit") referred to in Subparagraph (ii) in accordance with the "Generally Accepted Auditing Standards" established from time to time by the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board;
- (iv) provide a copy of each Annual Audit:
 - (A) to the Council within thirty (30) days of receipt; and
 - (B) to any Member, without charge, upon request; and
- (v) post in the administrative offices of the Council in an area to which the public has access a copy of the Annual Audit within thirty (30) days of receiving it;
- (b) in the event any Annual Audit is not unqualified, the Trustees shall take appropriate remedial action;
- (c) the Annual Audit shall include a written annual report from the Financial Trustees which describes expenditures of Trust Property by category, including those made for Implementation Purposes and those made for Community Purposes, with sufficient detail to permit the reader to compare the expenditures of Trust Property with the expenditures defined in this Agreement to be Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Financial Trustees' written report shall provide a full

reconciliation of expenditures and disbursements in respect of Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary relating to both Implementation Purposes and Community Purposes;

- (d) the Financial Trustees shall also prepare a written annual report on the Eligible Investments of the Trust Property and shall attach such report to the Annual Audit of the Trust given to the Council;
- (e) the Council shall, within one hundred and fifty (150) days of the end of each Taxation Year of the Trust, and upon at least thirty (30) days written notice posted in the administrative offices of the Council and published in at least one issue of a newspaper having a general circulation in Winnipeg and Selkirk, Manitoba, call a general meeting of the Members for the purpose of, among other things, permitting the Members an opportunity to:
 - (i) receive from the Financial Trustees a presentation of the Annual Audit for the previous Taxation Year of the Trust and to make comment on that audit;
 - (ii) receive from the Financial Trustees a presentation on the activities of the Trust in the previous Taxation Year of the Trust and to make comment on those activities; and
 - (iii) discuss such other matters relating to the operation of the Trust in the present Taxation Year of the Trust; and
- (f) the Financial Trustees shall attend the general meeting of Members called by Council for the purposes described in Paragraph (d) and carry out the functions described therein. Unless the Financial Trustees shall designate another person, the chairperson of the Financial Trustees shall answer all questions concerning the Annual Audit for the preceding Taxation Year of the Trust.

11.3 Annual Activity Report by Community Fund Trustees

- (a) The Community Fund Trustees shall:
 - (i) prepare for each Taxation Year of the Trust a written activity report (referred to as the "Annual Activity Report") which shall include:
 - (A) details of their recommended expenditures of Trust Property determined by the Community Fund Trustees to be Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary for Community Purposes and submitted to the Financial Trustees in a Funding Direction;
 - (B) the achievement of any general objectives of benefit to Peguis or its Members by the determination of expenditures for Community Purposes;
 - any Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary under consideration for Community Purposes; and
 - (D) any other plans or projects defined for the ensuring year; and
 - (ii) provide a copy of each Annual Activity Report:
 - (A) to the Council within ninety (90) days of the end of each Taxation Year of the Trust; and
 - (B) to any Member without charge, upon written request.
- (b) The Community Fund Trustees shall attend the general meeting of Members referred to in Paragraph 11.2(e). Unless the Community Fund Trustees shall designate another person, the chairperson of the Community Fund Trustees shall present the Annual Activity

Report for the previous Taxation Year of the Trust and answer all questions concerning the Annual Activity Report.

11.4 Meeting with Council

The Financial Trustees and the Community Fund Trustees shall meet with the Council and/or the Members, when asked by the Council to do so, and shall fully and fairly answer all questions that are asked of them concerning the administration of the Trust.

11.5 Rules and Regulations

The Trustees shall adopt any rules and regulations, which they may, from time to time, consider proper to govern their own procedure, by consensus and failing consensus by majority decision.

11.6 Execution of Documents

Any and all bills of exchange, promissory notes, cheques, powers of attorney, transfers, papers, documents, or other instruments in writing required at any time and from time to time to be signed in connection with the Trust shall be validly signed if signed by any two (2) of the Financial Trustees, at least one (1) of whom must be a Member.

11.7 Decisions of Trustees

Except as otherwise specifically provided for in Section 12.1, it shall not be necessary for the Trustees to hold meetings to arrive at any decision, but all decisions of the Trustees shall be made by Ordinary Resolution, unless otherwise expressly provided in the Trust Agreement. Any written resolution of Trustees may be executed by facsimile transmission or in one or more counterparts, or both, each of which shall be deemed to be an original and all of which shall together constitute but one and the same written resolution.

12. MEETINGS

12.1 Trustees' Meetings

The Financial Trustees and the Community Fund Trustees shall respectively meet at least once every two (2) months or more frequently, as may be required. The conduct of all of their meetings shall be governed by the following rules:

- a quorum at each meeting of Financial Trustees shall be four (4)
 Financial Trustees and a quorum at each meeting of Community
 Fund Trustees shall be three (3) Community Fund Trustees;
- (b) no Trustee may attend by or vote by proxy on any decision of the Trustees;
- (c) a Trustee may participate in the meeting by means of telephone or other communication facilities that permit all persons participating in the meeting to hear each other, and a Trustee participating in such a meeting by those means shall be considered present at the meeting and at the place of the meeting;
- of the Community Fund Trustees in any calendar year, the Financial Trustees and the Community Fund Trustees present at their respective meetings shall each appoint one (1) Financial Trustee and one (1) Community Fund Trustee, as the case may be, to chair their respective meetings for that year. The chairperson shall not have any additional rights to vote on any matter, other than his or her right to vote in his or her capacity as a Trustee. If the chairperson is not in attendance at a meeting, the Trustees who are present shall appoint one (1) Trustee present to chair the meeting;

- (e) the Trustee appointed to chair the meetings in any year, or any three (3) Community Fund Trustees or any four (4) Financial Trustees then holding office, upon written request, as applicable, shall have the right to call additional meetings of the Trustees in that year as shall be deemed necessary;
- (f) all Trustees shall be given at least fifteen (15) days notice in writing of the place, date and time of every meeting, unless all Trustees agree to shorter notice in writing or waives the required notice in writing; and
- (g) minutes of the meetings of the Financial Trustees and of the Community Fund Trustees shall be kept in writing and shall be signed by the Chairperson upon approval by all of the Financial Trustees or Community Fund Trustees, as the case may be. Those minutes shall also indicate which Trustees were in favour of an intended action and which Trustees opposed that action.

12.2 General Meetings of Members

If the Council calls a general meeting of Members concerning the Trust, the Trust Property, or its administration, all of the Trustees shall attend the general meeting and shall, unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, fully and fairly answer all questions that are asked of them concerning the administration of the Trust.

13. TRUSTEES' STATEMENT OF INTEREST

13.1 A Community Fund Trustee shall fully disclose any interest in a contract or proposed contract with the Trust or in a proposed application of Trust Property to or for the benefit of the Beneficiary which that Community Fund Trustee has or may have to the other Community Fund Trustees and to the Council.

- 13.2 A Financial Trustee shall fully disclose any interest in a contract or proposed contract with the Trust or in a proposed application of Trust Property to or for the benefit of the Beneficiary which that Financial Trustee has or may have to the other Financial Trustees and to the Council.
- 13.3 Without limiting the generality of Sections 13.1 and 13.2, if a Financial Trustee or a Community Fund Trustee:
 - has an interest in a proposed application of Trust Property to or for the benefit of the Beneficiary or in an Expenditure Beneficial to the Beneficiary, not in common with the other Members;
 - (b) has an interest in a contract or proposed contract in respect of which a proposed application of Trust Property is being considered;
 - (c) owns, either directly or beneficially, any interest in Other Land (as that term is defined in the Treaty Entitlement Agreement), property, business or undertaking in respect of which a proposed application of Trust Property is being considered;
 - (d) is the holder of a Third Party Interest in respect of which a proposed application of Trust Property is being considered; or
 - (e) is a director, a shareholder or an officer of, or is "related" (as that term is defined in the Income Tax Act) to, any Person (including a corporation) who has an interest of the type described in Paragraphs 13.3(a), (b) or (c) or who is the holder of a Third Party Interest described in Paragraph 13.3(d) or is otherwise not in an "arm's length" (as that term is defined in the Income Tax Act Canada) relationship with such Person;

then that Trustee shall state in writing to the Community Fund Trustees or Financial Trustees, as the case may be, and to the Council, the nature and extent of his or her interest or the Third Party Interest.

13.4 The statement of interest described in Section 13.3 shall be made:

- (a) at the meeting of Trustees at which a proposed application of Trust Property to or for the benefit of the Beneficiary or an Expenditure Beneficial to the Beneficiary is first being considered by the Community Fund Trustees or the Financial Trustees, as the case may be;
- (b) at the meeting of Trustees at which a contract or proposed contract is first being considered by the Community Fund Trustees or the Financial Trustees, as the case may be;
- (c) at the meeting of Trustees at which a Third Party Interest or an interest in Other Land (as those terms are defined in the Treaty Entitlement Agreement), property, business or undertaking in respect of which a proposed application of Trust Property is first being considered;
- (d) at the meeting of Council next following the date upon which the Trustee knew or ought reasonably to have known that the provisions of any one or more of Paragraphs 13.3 (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e) apply;
- (e) if the Trustee did not have any interest as described in Section 13.3 at the time of the relevant meeting described in Paragraphs 13.4(a), (b) and (c) above, then, if the contract has not then been made or if the application of Trust Property to or for the benefit of the Beneficiary has not been determined or the Expenditure Beneficial to the Beneficiary made, at the first such meeting of Trustees after he or she becomes so interested;

- (f) if the Trustee becomes interested in a contract or an Expenditure Beneficial to the Beneficiary or the holder of a Third Party Interest, after it is made, then at the first meeting described in Paragraph (d) after he or she becomes so interested; and
- (g) if a Person who is interested in a contract or in an Expenditure Beneficial to the Beneficiary or is the holder of a Third Party Interest is appointed as a Trustee after that contract is signed or expenditure made or Third party Interest acquired, then at the first meeting described in Paragraph 13.4(d) after he or she becomes a Trustee.
- 13.5 Where a Trustee has notified the other Community Fund Trustees or Financial Trustees, as the case may be, and the Council of his interest, as required above, the Community Fund Trustees or the Financial Trustees, as the case may be, and the Council shall promptly convene a joint meeting to discuss the disclosure and Council shall determine whether the interest is material and provide a Council Resolution to the Community Fund Trustees and Financial Trustees setting out the Council's decision within three (3) working days of the joint meeting.
 - Trustees, other than the disclosing Financial Trustee or Financial Trustees, may proceed with the contract or they may make alternative arrangements in order to implement a Funding Direction, as they, in their absolute discretion, determine to be in the best interests of the Beneficiary. The provisions of Sections 13.8 and 13.9, as applicable, shall apply to the disclosing Community Fund Trustee(s) or Financial Trustee(s), as the case may be, and such disclosing Trustee(s) shall be relieved of responsibility for any decision of the Community Fund Trustees or Financial Trustees, as the case may be, in relation to the contract or

interest in question made by the other Trustees in the best interests of the Beneficiary, having made the required full disclosure.

- If a Trustee fails to disclose a conflict of interest in an Expenditure 13.7 Beneficial to the Beneficiary, contract or Third Party Interest as required and the Financial Trustees enter into that contract or make that expenditure, the Council, in consultation with the Community Fund Trustees or Financial Trustees, as the case may be, shall determine whether the conflict was material and if the defaulting Trustee failed to disclose it on a timely basis. If the Council determines that the conflict was material and that there was failure to disclose it on a timely basis, the Council shall advise the other Community Fund Trustees or Financial Trustees, as the case may be, by Council Resolution of their determination and the defaulting Trustee shall immediately cease to be a Trustee. A Trustee who has failed to disclose a material interest shall not be entitled to participate in a decision of the Council pursuant to this Section 13.7, except as requested to explain the conflict and answer questions concerning the conflict.
- 13.8 A Financial Trustee who is determined by Council Resolution to have a material conflict of interest or interests as described above:
 - (a) shall not participate in, or be present during, any discussion regarding; or
 - (b) make, or second, any motion with respect to or vote on any motion involving;

any Expenditure Beneficial to the Beneficiary, contract or proposed contract or Third Party Interest in respect of such material conflict of interest(s), other than to answer questions raised by the other Financial Trustees concerning the contract or expenditure or the Financial Trustee's interest or interests.

- 13.9 A Community Fund Trustee who is determined by Council Resolution to have a material conflict of interest or interests as described above:
 - (a) shall not participate in, or be present during, any discussion regarding; or
 - (b) make, or second, any motion with respect to or vote on any motion involving;

any application of Trust Property to or for the benefit of the Beneficiary, contract or proposed contract or Third Party Interest in respect of such material conflict of interest(s), other than to answer questions raised by the other Community Fund Trustees concerning the contract or expenditure or the Community Fund Trustee's interest or interests.

- 13.10 Notwithstanding anything in this Article 13 to the contrary, the remaining Community Fund Trustees shall not be prohibited from discussing proposed contracts, determining Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary or issuing Funding Directions to the Financial Trustees,
- 13.11 Notwithstanding anything in this Article 13 to the contrary, the remaining Financial Trustees shall not be prohibited from entering into a contract or making Expenditures Beneficial to the Beneficiary in accordance with a Funding Direction, provided that four (4) of the remaining Financial Trustees then in office approved of such contract or Funding Direction.
- 13.12 Where an expenditure or contract has been approved in accordance with the provisions of this Article 13, any one or more of the Community Fund or Financial Trustees, as the case may be, may execute all necessary documents after the approval, whether or not those Trustees have a material conflict of interest.
- 13.13 A Trustee who acts in breach of the requirements of this Article 13 shall forthwith be removed by the Council as a Trustee and shall account to and

reimburse the Trust for all benefit accruing that Trustee as a consequence of that breach.

14. COMPENSATION AND REIMBURSEMENT OF TRUSTEE

14.1 Trustees' Compensation

- (a) The Trustees' compensation in connection with the performance of their duties under this Agreement, shall be as determined by the Members at any general meeting of Members duly called from time to time, having reasonable regard for the nature of the duties of the Trustees, the experience and qualifications of each appointee and the intentions of Peguis that:
 - the Trustees, as voluntary applicants, may receive modest compensation as honoraria, in particular for any income loss in relation to services as Trustees; and
 - the professional Trustees appointed may receive compensation which is appropriate as provided in Section 14.3,

and in each case the Members may also take into consideration in their determination of reasonable compensation, the diversity and extent of assets under administration, the effort expended and care and skill demonstrated by the Trustees in discharging their respective responsibilities; and

(b) the Trustees' compensation determined in accordance with this Section shall be charged against the Income and/or capital of the Trust Property in the Implementation Account, in the case of compensation for Financial Trustees, and in the Community Fund Account, in the case of compensation for Community Fund Trustees, in the proportion the Financial Trustees, in their discretion, consider appropriate.

14.2 Reimbursement of Expenses

All costs, charges and expenses, including the Trustees' compensation and out-of-pocket expenses incidental to the carrying out of the terms of the Trust, shall be paid out of the Trust Property and shall be a first charge on the Trust Property in the Implementation Account or in the Community Fund Account, as the case may be, and the Financial Trustees shall allocate these costs, charges and expenses between the Income and capital of the Trust Property in the Implementation Account or in the Community Fund Account, as the case may be, in the proportion the Financial Trustees, in their discretion, consider appropriate.

14.3 Professional Advisors as Trustee

Subject to the disclosure requirements of Article 13, any Trustee who is a Corporate Trustee, chartered accountant or solicitor or engaged in any other profession or business may make and be paid all usual professional and other charges for work done by it, him or his firm or any member of his firm in relation to the administration of this Trust in the same manner and in all respects as if he were not a Trustee, and also his reasonable charges in addition to disbursements for all work and business done and all time spent by him and his firm or any member of his firm in connection with matters arising in connection with this Trust including matters which might or should have been dealt with by a Person who is not a chartered accountant or a solicitor or other professional Person, but which the Trustees might reasonably require to be done by a chartered accountant or solicitor or other professional Person.

15. POWERS AND AUTHORITY OF THE TRUSTEES

15.1 General

Subject to any restrictions placed on the powers of the Trustees under this Agreement, the Trustees may do any act or thing in the management and investment of the Trust which they believe is wise and proper and in the best interest of the Trust just as if the Trust property belonged to them. The Trustees shall have all of the powers and capacities that a natural person would have in the investment, management, supervision and administration of their own properties except as expressly limited by the terms of this Agreement. Without restricting the generality of the foregoing, with no intent to limit the scope of the Trustees' authority and only for the purposes of greater certainty, the Trustees are hereby authorized from time to time in their uncontrolled discretion to undertake the activities described below. Where specific references are made to "Financial Trustees" only they shall have the powers mentioned below:

(a) Investments: The Financial Trustees may invest or re-invest the Trust Property in Eligible Investments and may sell or otherwise dispose of or encumber any part or all of the Trust Property at any time, and at prices and on the terms, as the Financial Trustees in their absolute discretion may deem advisable;

It shall be an obligation of the Financial Trustees to consider the impact of inflation on the real value of the Trust Property, and they may structure any transaction or distribution out of the Trust Property so as to minimize the effect of such inflation as in their absolute discretion they consider appropriate;

As required by Paragraph 7.5(a), the Financial Trustees are authorized and shall retain the services of one or more professional financial managers or advisors to whom some or all of the Financial

Trustees' authority to make investments pursuant to this Paragraph 15.1(a) may be delegated. The Financial Trustees are authorized to revoke or suspend any delegation from time to time and to change the financial managers or advisors to whom any delegation has been made.

- (b) Purchase from Beneficiary: In addition to Eligible Investments, the Financial Trustees may acquire at any time as an investment, and may hold as part of the Trust Property, property owned by the Beneficiary, at prices and upon the terms, all as the Financial Trustees in their absolute discretion consider appropriate.
- (c) <u>Securities Transactions:</u> The Financial Trustees may vote all investments forming the Trust Property, and exercise all rights arising from their ownership of the investment. They may sell or exercise any subscription rights and in connection with the exercise of subscription rights may use any portion of the Trust Property for that purpose. They may consent to and join in any plan for reconstruction, reorganization, amalgamation, or consolidation of any company. They may consent to and join in the sale of the assets of any such company. In pursuance of any such plan they may accept any shares or securities in exchange.
- (d) Proxy: The Financial Trustees may appoint any Person or Persons their proxy or proxies to vote any shares and securities held as Trust Property.
- (e) <u>Title to Assets:</u> The Financial Trustees may register any property in the names of their nominee(s) or in their own names or unregistered or in any such form that title shall pass by delivery, but without increasing or decreasing their liability as Financial Trustees.

- (f) <u>Distributions:</u> The Financial Trustees may make any distributions which may be required in whole or in part in assets forming the Trust Property. Every distribution, and valuation of the Trust Property, shall be binding upon the Beneficiaries.
- (g) Lending: The Financial Trustees may lend the Trust Property or any part to any Person, except a Trustee, the Chief or a member of the Council, for any security which they, acting reasonably and prudently, in their absolute discretion may think is sufficient; provided that the aggregate amount of such loans outstanding at any time shall not exceed ten (10%) percent of the Trust Property.
- (h) <u>Valuation of Assets:</u> The Financial Trustees may, in their absolute discretion, determine in the case of investments purchased or sold at a premium or discount or in the case of any monies received, whether any premium, discount or amount received shall be credited to or charged against capital or Income of the Trust Property.
- (i) Agents: The Financial Trustees may engage or employ and compensate agents, accountants, solicitors, brokers and other assistants and advisors which they believe will be helpful, for the proper settlement or administration of the Trust, and without any liability for any neglect or default of any Person so engaged or employed, if the Person was selected and retained with reasonable care. The Financial Trustees may retain, dismiss and replace agents, including lawyers, accountants, bookkeepers, investment advisors, realtors, appraisers, auctioneers, architects, engineers and other independent advisors or organizations qualified in the field for which their advice and opinions are sought, to assist the Financial Trustees or Community Fund Trustees in carrying out their responsibilities and duties under this Trust, and the Financial

Trustees and Community Fund Trustees shall not be bound to act upon this advice, and shall not be responsible for any loss caused by acting or not acting, provided the decision to act or not act was taken reasonably and in good faith.

- (j) <u>Situs of Assets:</u> The Financial Trustees may hold the Trust Property or any part of it at any place or places, and move the same from time to time from place to place inside or outside of the Province of Manitoba.
- (k) <u>Self-Dealing:</u> Except in respect of services which the Financial Trustees consider necessary for the proper administration of the Trust, the Trustees shall have no right to engage in any business transactions with themselves on behalf of the Trust. In respect of services which they consider necessary for the proper administration of the Trust, the Financial Trustees may engage in such transactions if they are, in the opinion of the Trustees, on the same basis as may be reasonably negotiated with any other Person, subject to Article 13.
- (I) <u>Transfer of Trust Fund to Other Trust:</u> The Financial Trustees may transfer the whole or any portion of the Trust Property to any other trust or settlement whether established pursuant to the laws of the Province of Manitoba or any other jurisdiction, to be held by the trustee(s) of that other trust or settlement, provided that:
 - the Financial Trustees have recommended to the Council that the transfer be made;
 - (ii) the Council has, by Council Resolution, accepted the recommendation of the Financial Trustees; and
 - (iii) the Members have, by a vote in which not less than ninety (90%) percent of the Members entitled to vote cast a vote

and not less than seventy-five (75%) percent vote to approve the transfer, the vote being conducted in a manner similar to the *Indian Act Referendum Regulations (Canada)*;

- (iv) the other trust or settlement shall not infringe the rule against perpetuities or accumulations applicable to that trust; and
- (v) the Beneficiary shall be the sole beneficiary of the other trust.
- (m) Suits by the Trustees: The Financial Trustees may institute, prosecute, settle and defend any lawsuits or other proceedings affecting them as the Financial Trustees, or the Trust Property or any part of it, and make application to any Court of competent jurisdiction in respect of the Trust.

16. TERMINATION

16.1 Duration

This Trust shall continue indefinitely, subject, however, to earlier termination by a vote in which not less than ninety (90%) percent of the Members entitled to vote cast a vote and not less than seventy-five (75%) vote to approve the termination of the Trust, the vote being conducted in a manner similar to the *Indian Act Referendum Regulations (Canada)* and provided that Canada has at the date of the vote set aside Reserve for Peguis in an amount not less than ninety (90%) percent of the total land amount of 166,794 acres of land to which Peguis is entitled under the Treaty Entitlement Agreement.

16.2 Reversion of Trust Property

Upon termination of the Trust, the Trust Property then remaining shall be transferred to Peguis, to be applied by Peguis as determined by a vote in which not less than ninety (90%) percent of the Members entitled to vote

cast a vote and not less than seventy-five (75%) percent vote to approve of the application of the Trust Property, the vote being conducted in a manner similar to the *Indian Act Referendum Regulations (Canada)*.

16.3 Termination Report

Within three (3) months after termination of the Trust, the Financial Trustees shall provide the Council with a final accounting of their administration of the Trust (referred to as the "Termination Report"), together with all the records, account books and other documents relating to the Trust in the possession of the Financial Trustees. The Financial Trustees' final accounting shall also be provided to the Members, together with any additional explanation and information as Members may reasonably require.

16.4 Discharge of Trustees

The Trustees shall be fully and finally discharged from their responsibilities of the Trust upon written notification from the Council of its approval of the Termination Report prepared by the Financial Trustees. If, within three (3) months after the Council has received the Termination Report, it has not notified the Trustees of its approval of the Termination Report prepared by the Financial Trustees, the Financial Trustees shall bring their accounts before a Court of competent jurisdiction for review and approval and for the purpose of seeking a discharge.

17. AMENDMENT TO THE TERMS OF THE TRUST

17.1 Legal Requirement

The Trust may be amended to deal with changes in the law applicable to the Trust provided the proposed changes have been approved by Council Resolution in accordance with its established procedures after receipt of a written opinion from legal counsel explaining the significance of changes in the law and the legal implications and benefits of the proposed amendments.

17.2 Administrative Requirements

Provisions of this Agreement which are of an administrative or procedural nature and which both legal counsel for Peguis and legal counsel for the Financial Trustees and for the Community Fund Trustees have advised does not substantially alter the entitlements or obligations of the parties to this Agreement, including the beneficial interest of the Beneficiary, may be amended at any time by Council Resolution.

17.3 General Requirements

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, no provision of this Agreement may be amended, redrafted or varied in any way that is inconsistent with Article 17 of the Treaty Entitlement Agreement.

18. NOTICE

18.1 Whenever notice is required be given to any party in accordance with this Agreement, notice shall be given in writing by delivering it personally or sending it by registered mail: (a) to the Council and the Beneficiary at:

Peguis First Nation
Post Office Box 10,
Peguis Reserve, Manitoba
R0C 3J0

(b) to the Financial Trustees and the Community Fund Trustees at the addresses set out in Schedule "B" attached.

Any notice or communication shall be sufficient if delivered personally, or if delivered by registered mail, and shall be effective on delivery if delivered personally or within four (4) business days after mailing, if mailed. In the event of an anticipated or actual stopping of postal service, registered mail shall not be used.

19. ASSIGNMENT OF BENEFICIARY'S INTEREST

Income payable to the Beneficiary may be assigned by it to one or more other trusts established for the benefit of the Beneficiary. The Financial Trustee shall, upon receipt of a written direction from the Council, make payments of Income to which the assignment relates to the one or more other trusts. Any assignment made shall not operate to assign or otherwise convey the Beneficiary's right to Income or income interest under this Trust. The Beneficiary may revoke any assignment at any time upon direction from the Council, by Council Resolution, to the Financial Trustees.

20. GOVERNING LAW

This Agreement and its provisions shall be construed, governed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the Province of Manitoba, which, together with the federal laws of Canada of general application in the Province of Manitoba, shall be the proper law of this Trust, including the law relating to the determination of its essential validity. Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, and provided legal

counsel for each of Peguis, the Financial Trustees and the Community Fund Trustees explaining the significance of the following actions, the Financial Trustees may select the laws of another jurisdiction to be the proper law of the Trust and to govern it in all respects and the Financial Trustees may remove the Trust Property in whole or in part to any other jurisdiction, whether or not that other jurisdiction is also the proper law of the Trust.

21. ADJUSTMENTS FOR INFLATION

Dollar amounts specified in Section 1.11, Paragraph 1.13(b) and Paragraph 8.4(c) of this Agreement are to be adjusted for changes in the Consumer Price Index for Canada which have occurred from the date of this Agreement is signed to the relevant date upon which reference to such dollar amount is made for purposes of this Agreement.

AS WITNESSED BELOW the Settlor and Initial Trustees have executed this Agreement on the day first above written.

SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED (In the Presence of:)

PEGUIS FIRST NATION by its Chief and Council	
D- 2+2-1	
FINANCIAL TRUSTEES	

Witness

	counsel for each of Pogue, the Financial Trus
Witness	
Box to be the graper law of the	
Witness	Trust and to govern it is all tespects and the 4-ra
Witness	face ledflo was exposited as a notosegui
Witness	
	egation perto appeal and in Section 1999 (Consumer
Witness	color of the superior of the color of the co
Witness	
	VS WILDS SUED BELOW the Sublected Indal Trustee
Witness	
Witness	MENNEY CLEAR OF AND DETIVER LU
Witness	NO an go

REMAINS TO LIGHT THE TERMS

SCHEDULE "A"

PROMISSORY NOTE

FOR VALUE RECEIVED the Peguis Fir	st Nation Trust promis	es to pay to or to
the order of Peguis First Nation the s		
(\$), on demand, without inte		
The Trustees waive presentment, protest	and notice of dishono	ur of this note.
This Promissory Note represents payment the (Implementation Account) (Community		Trust Property in
DATED this day of		
Witness (as to all)	Financial Trustee	
	Financial Trustee	3 Full Hame. Admidso.
	Financial Trustee	Telephen
	Financial Trustee	E-moli Addi
	Financial Trustee	
	Each as a Financia	

SCHEDULE "B"

LIST OF TRUSTEES PEGUIS FIRST NATION TRUST

Financial Trustees (7)

1.sa polibr	Full Name: Address: Town/City Postal Code Telephone (Home) Telephone (Work) Cell: E-mail Address: Fax:	
2.	Full Name: Address: Town/City Postal Code Telephone (Home) Telephone (Work) Cell: E-mail Address: Fax:	
3.	Full Name: Address: Town/City Postal Code Telephone (Home) Telephone (Work) Cell: E-mail Address:	Isoman i

4.	Full Name: Address: Town/City Postal Code Telephone (Home) Telephone (Work) Cell: E-mail Address: Fax:	
5.	Full Name:	
	Address: Town/City Postal Code Telephone (Home)	
	Telephone (Work) Cell:	
	E-mail Address:	
	Fax:	
6.	Full Name: Address: Town/City Postal Code Telephone (Home) Telephone (Work) Cell:	
	E-mail Address: Fax:	
7.	Full Name: Address: Town/City Postal Code	see that is a second of the se
	Telephone (Home) Telephone (Work)	
	Cell: E-mail Address: Fax:	

Community Fund Trustees (5)

1.	Full Name: Address: Town/City Postal Code Telephone (Home) Telephone (Work) Cell: E-mail Address: Fax:	
2.	Full Name: Address: Town/City Postal Code Telephone (Home) Telephone (Work) Cell: E-mail Address: Fax:	
3.	Full Name: Address: Town/City Postal Code Telephone (Home) Telephone (Work) Cell: E-mail Address: Fax:	
4.	Full Name: Address: Town/City Postal Code Telephone (Home) Telephone (Work) Cell: E-mail Address:	

5.	Full Name: Address: Town/City Postal Code Telephone (Home) Telephone (Work) Cell: E-mail Address: Fax:		811

SCHEDULE "C"

Consent and Acknowledgement Peguis First Nation Trust

i,
the Province of, or the, Canada, hereby accept and consent to and acknowledge my appointment as a Trustee of the Peguis First Nation Trust by the resolution of the Council of the Peguis First Nation dated, a copy of which is attached as Appendix A.
I pledge that I will act as a Trustee to the best of my knowledge, ability and skill, in utmost good faith, with due care and diligence at all times in accordance with the terms of the Trust Agreement, a copy of which is attached as Appendix B.
I have read the Trust Agreement understand that will be liable for breach of the duty of care I am bound to exercise as a Trustee at law, and in particular for my individual fraudulent or negligent act or omission, but that I am otherwise indemnified and saved harmless from claims and costs arising from the performance of my duties as Trustee from the Trust Property in accordance with the terms of the Trust Agreement. I also understand that the Trust Agreement provides for strict and detailed guidelines in relation to the disclosure of conflicts of interest, the breach of which could result in the withdrawal of my appointment, accounting for profit or returns received and other civil or criminal penalties.
I acknowledge and agree that I may be obliged to participate in financial management and investment or Trust management orientation and training workshops or programs to assist me and the other Trustees in the better management and administration of the Peguis First Nation Trust.
This Consent and Acknowledgement signed this day of, Manitoba.
Signature of Witness Signature of Trustee